

OPERATING INSTRUCTIONS

Aardvark Permeameter Module

January 2012





P.O. Box 4, 6987 ZG Giesbeek Nijverheidsstraat 30, 6987 EM Giesbeek, The Netherlands

- **T** +31 313 880200
- **F** +31 313 880299
- E info@eijkelkamp.com
- I http://www.eijkelkamp.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

UNPACKING	4
WARRANTY & LIABILITY	4
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS	4
APPLICABLE TO ALL SIMPLYDATE SUITE PROGRAMS	4
REQUIREMENTS FOR USE	4
HOW TO INSTALL THE SIMPLYDATA SOFTWARE SUITE	5
AARDVARK PERMEAMETER APPLICATION	8
How to Perform Calculations Using the Aardvark Permeameter Program	9
Prior to Making Measurements	0
Enter Date of Sampling10	0
Units of Measurement10	0
Add Location(s)10	0
Edit an Existing Location	4
Manually Entering Data	5
How to Make Automatic Readings	6
How to Set Up the Flash Drive for Use with Record it in a Flash (RIF)	9
How to Import Data from the Flash Drive to the Aardvark Program	3
How to Export Data to Excel	4
Helpful Hints During Normal Use	5
Delete Readings Only	5
Delete Readings and Sites	5
Unrealistic Readings Due to Maintenance Activities	6
Unrealistic Readings Due to Lack of Constant Water Head Establishment	7
Determining the Aardvark Permeameter's Maximum Water Supply Rate	7

UNPACKING

The Aardvark Module in our SimplyDATA software and the Record It in a Flash (RIF) USB Flash Drive were thoroughly tested before shipment. When packed, they were in perfect working order. Follow the instructions carefully in order to assure long, trouble-free service.

Any damage found upon receipt should be reported immediately to the transport carrier for claim. It is important to save the shipping container and all evidence to support your claim. Be sure to read all operating instructions thoroughly before operating the unit.

WARRANTY & LIABILITY

Eijkelkamp Agrisearch Equipment (EAE) warrants all products manufactured by EAE to be free from defects in materials and workmanship under normal use and service for twelve (12) months from the date of invoice provided the section below has been met.

Eijkelkamp (EAE) is not liable for any damages, actual or inferred, caused by misuse or improper handling of its products. EAE products are designed to be used solely as described in these product operating instructions by a prudent individual under normal operating conditions in applications intended for use by this product.

GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS

The SimplyDATA Suite of software programs was written for use in a Windows Operating system; it will not function on any other platform.

APPLICABLE TO ALL SIMPLYDATA SUITE PROGRAMS

Every SimplyDATA Suite application comes with a sample data set which will open automatically when the application starts, until the user saves collected data. Then, the most recently saved file will become the default file to open when the program starts.

REQUIREMENTS FOR USE

When you run the setup program, to install the SimplyDATA Suite software, only a limited amount of files are installed on your computer. The USB Flash drive provided <u>must always be</u> <u>inserted in a USB port</u> on your computer or laptop to run the program.

If you wish to export any of your files, you will need Microsoft Excel[®] installed on your computer or laptop.

HOW TO INSTALL THE SIMPLYDATA SOFTWARE SUITE

Insert the Soilmoisture USB Flash Drive into any available USB port on your computer. The Flash Drive has been named "RIF Drive".

You can locate the SimplyDATA setup file by opening Windows Explorer, search for the RIF Drive, open the file and select setup.exe from the Flash Drive.

rganize 🔻 System properties 🛛 U	ninstall or change a program Map network drive Open C	ontrol Panel)EE 💌
Favorites	Name	Туре	Total Size	Free Space
Desktop	 Hard Disk Drives (2) 			
Recent Places	 Seagate Back up Drive (D:) 	Local Disk	298 GB	126 GB
My Documents	🛍 Local Disk (C:)	Local Disk	104 GB	45.4 GB
I My Documents	 Devices with Removable Storage (2))		
Libraries	RIF DRIVE (F:)	Removable Disk	1.90 GB	1.88 GB
Documents	OVD RW Drive (E:) 110812 1446	CD Drive	702 MB	679 MB

Once you have located the setup.exe file on the Soilmoisture USB flash drive, double click it and the SimplyDATA Software Suite Setup Wizard window will open and you will see the Welcome Screen.

Click "Next" to start the installation.

😸 SimplyData Software Suite	23
Welcome to the SimplyData Software Suite Setup Wizard	
The installer will guide you through the steps required to install SimplyData Software Suite on y computer.	our
WARNING: This computer program is protected by copyright law and international treaties. Unauthorized duplication or distribution of this program, or any portion of it, may result in severe or criminal penalties, and will be prosecuted to the maximum extent possible under the law.	e civil
Cancel < Back Next	

In the "Select Installation Folder" window, select the folder where you want to install the program. You have two options: you can make the program available to only yourself or you may share the program with other users of the computer by selecting the option "Everyone". After you have made your choice, click "Next".

岃 SimplyData Software Suite	
Select Installation Folder	
The installer will install SimplyData Software Suite to the following folder. To install in this folder, click "Next". To install to a different folder, enter it be Folder:	low or click "Browse"
C:\Program Files [x86]\SimplyCata\SimplyData Software Suite\	Browse
	Disk Cost
Instal SimplyData Software Suite for yourself, or for anyone who uses the © Everyone © Just me	computer:
Cancel Caack	Next >

The "Confirm Installation" window will appear; click "Next" to install the SimplyDATA Software Suite to your computer.

闄 SimplyData Sottware Suite	
Confirm Installation	
The installer is ready to install SimplyData Software Suite on your co	omputer.
Click "Next" to start the installation.	
Cancel	< Back Next>
Cancer	Next Next

When the installation is complete, the "Installation Complete" window will appear on your screen. Click "Close" to complete the installation. A shortcut will be placed on your Desktop called "Shortcut to SimplyDATA Software Suite".



To run the SimplyDATA program, double click on the shortcut placed on your Desktop. The "Navigating Console" window opens. Click on the Aardvark Permeameter icon in the top left corner to run the program (shown highlighted below).

AARDVARK PERMEAMETER APPLICATION

NOTE: In order to properly view the Aardvark Permeameter Screens, your Windows[®] Screen Resolution on your monitor or display must be set to 100%.



How to Perform Calculations Using the Aardvark Permeameter Program

NOTE: To properly view the Aardvark Permeameter Screens, your Windows® Screen Resolution on your Display must be set to <u>100%</u>.

🖳 SimplyDATA Software Suite - [Aardvark Permeameter] _ 0 X 🖳 File RIF Options View Windows Help - @ × Add Location Edit Location Water Consumption Rate Total Water Consumed Date of Readings: Name: SampleLocation Apr 10, 2011 300 Site: Ste 1 -250 Time interval between readings: 5 minutes Apply to Current Data Sound alarm for each reading 200 GRAPH PANEL Ksat Method: An engineering analysis method for conditions Earth Manual table is closer than 3 hole depths of the measure ^a 150 noint w Rate Condition Steady Flow Rate: 61.68 ml/min 100 Steady Flow Rate achieved when Water Consumption Rate changes less than Percolation Rate: 1.32 min/cm +/- 10 ml Ksat: 3.0472E-4 50 3 consecutive readings for Inches 🔻 / sec 🔻 0 2:17 PM 2:47 PM 3:07 PM 2:27 PM 2:37 PM 2:57 PM Site Details This is a sample location with sample readings. Create your own location with the Add Location button and click the lgnore this Reading Interval Water Consumed Total Water Consumed Water Consumption Rate Reservoir Water Level Elapsed Time Interval Time Notes PARAMETERS PANEL Date: 04/10/2011 8701 ml 2:17:53 PM Operator: Thomas Macfie 7390.4 ml 5 minutes 1310.6 ml 1310.6 ml 262.12 ml/min 2:22:53 PM 6804.6 ml 585.8 ml 1896.4 ml 117.16 ml/min 2-27-53 PM 6453.6 ml 2247.4 ml 70 20 ml/min 51.0 ml Degrees Minutes Seconds 2:32:53 PM 6184.8 ml 8.8 ml 2516.2 ml 53.76 ml/min Longitude: 0 East 2:37:53 PM 5895 m DATA PANEL 2806.0 ml 57.96 ml/min 9.8 ml Latitude: 0 0 0 North 2-42-53 PM 5581.6 m 13.4 ml 3119.4 ml 62 68 ml/min 2:47:53 PM 5259.6 ml 22.0 ml 3441.4 ml 64.40 ml/min 10.2 cm Hole Diameter 2:52:53 PM 4982 ml 5 minutes 277.6 ml 3719.0 m 55.52 ml/min 2:57:53 PM 4717 m 5 minutes 265.0 ml 3984 0 ml 53.00 ml/min 20 º C Water Temperature 3:02:53 PM 4410.6 ml 5 minutes 306.4 ml 4290.4 ml 61.28 ml/min 3:07:53 PM 61 cm Hole Depth 4079.6 ml 5 minutes 331.0 ml 4621.4 ml 66.20 ml/min 3:12:53 PM 3760.4 ml 5 minutes 319.2 ml 4940.6 ml 63.84 ml/min 15.2 cm Water Height in Hole 9999 cm Water Table Depth Soil Texture-Structure Category: Most structured soils from clays through loams; also includes ctured medium and fine sands. The category most frequently applicable for agricultural soils ne Texture Module Weighing Weighing Weighing Begin Weighing Clear Readings Save Readings Close 🧉 🕽 🗉 🚳 🕗 🖉 📓 🛛 🐨 🗷 🚳 😂 😒 🔁 🕼 🕦 10:24 AM

The Aardvark Main Screen is comprised of three panels: "Parameters", "Graph" and "Data".

The Data Panel is used to store reading data (manually or automatically) and the Graph Panel will display a graph of the data collected over time.

NOTE: If you wish, you may hide either the Graph or Data panel or both. To do this, click on the "View" tab on the Tool Bar and deselect the check box next to the Panel(s). To view either or both Panels again, simply select them by clicking in the check box next to the Panel to be viewed (see below).



Prior to Making Measurements

Enter Date of Sampling

Before you use the Aardvark software program, you will need to enter the date you will take your measurements. By default, it will show the current date, but can be changed if the date of sampling is different.

Units of Measurement

As a default, all measurements made will be saved in metric. The <u>only Parameters</u> that can be changed from metric to imperial are: Hole Diameter, Water Temperature, Hole Depth and Water Height in Hole. To change these from metric to imperial go to the Options drop down menu and select "Imperial". The check box will change from unchecked to checked (see below).



Once changed, all the fields in the "Parameters" panel and "Add a New Location" screens will change from "cm" to "inches", and temperature will now show in degrees Fahrenheit. For the purposes of this manual, we will only use metric units in our examples.

Add Location(s)

To add Location(s) and Site nomenclature, this can be done either in the laboratory or in the field using a laptop computer.

To add a location, click on the "Add Location" button at the top left of the screen (red square).

Г	Aardvark Permea	ameters
ation	Add Location Edit Location	Date of Readings:
ame:	SampleLocation 👻	Apr 10, 2011
Site:	Site 1 💌	
	Time interval between readings:	5 minutes
	Apply to Current Data 📃 Sound alarm	for each reading

The "Add a new Location" screen will open. Enter the desired name for your sampling location in the "Location Name" textbox (see red box below).

ocation Name:			(maximum leng	th of 14 characte	ers)			Add a Sit
Site #1								
	Site Na	ame:				_		Delete this Site
					© D	ng Format ecimal degr egrees, Min	ees	
	-	cm	Hole Diameter		Degrees	Minutes	Seconds	
				Longitude:				•
	20	°C	Water Temperature (only affects Earth Manual method)	Latitude:				•
F		cm	Hole Depth	etails:				
	-	cm	Water Height in Hole					
		cm	Water Table Depth (only affects Earth Manual method)					
Soil Texture-Structure Cater	ory (only aff	ects the	Reynolds and Elrick method)					
			s such as landfill caps and liner, lacus	rine or marine se	diments, etc	5 .		
Soils which are both fine t	extured (clayey	or silty)	and unstructured; may also include so	me fine sands.				
Most structured soils from	clays through l	oams; al	so includes unstructured medium and	fine sands. The c	category mo	st frequently	y applicable f	or agricultural soils.
Coarse and gravely sands	; may also inclu	ude some	e highly structured soils with large and	/or numerous cra	icks, macroj	pores, etc.		

NOTE: Once a <u>Location Name</u> is added, it **cannot** be deleted. Each Location must also always have one site.

Each Location may have up to 8 Sites. You can add or delete Sites using the "Add a Site" or "Delete a Site" buttons on the upper right side of the window (see below). Enter the desired Site Name in the Site Name Box.

As an added option, you may also enter the Longitude and Latitude of the sampling site in the corresponding textboxes (show in red box below). Click the radio button of the desired format of either "Decimal degrees" or "Degrees, Min, Sec." Use the drop-down menus to the right of the Longitude and Latitude values to set North, South, East, and West.

cation Na	ne:					(maxim	um length o	f 14 characte	ers)				Add a Si
Site #1	Site #2	Site #3	Site #4	Site	#5 Site #6	Site #7	Site #8	3					
and a second sec			Site Nar	me:								Delete	this Site
									© D	ng Format ecimal degn egrees, Min			
	¥		0	cm	Hole Diameter				Degrees	Minutes	Seconds		
-	-	100						Longitude:				East	•
			0	°C	Water Tempera (only affects Ea		nethod)	Latitude:				North	•
		6	0	cm	Hole Depth		Site Detail	S:					
	1	4	0	cm	Water Height in	Hole							
	1		0	cm	Water Table De (only affects Ea	States and	nethod)						
Soil Tex	ure-Structu	ire Category	(only affe	ects the	Reynolds and	Elrick meth	od)						
Cor	npacted, stru	cture-less, cl	ayey or silty r	naterials	such as landfill c	aps and liner	, lacustrine	or marine sed	diments, etc	÷.			
🔘 Soi	s which are l	both fine text	ured (clayey	or silty) a	and unstructured;	may also inc	lude some f	ìne sands.					
Mo	st structured	soils from clay	ys through lo	ams; als	o includes unstru	ctured mediu	m and fine	sands. The c	ategory mo	st frequently	applicable f	for agricult	ural soils
	ma and am	elv sands: m	av also inclu	de some	highly structured	soils with lan	e and/or n	umerous crad	cks, macrop	oores, etc.			

Next, enter the Borehole diameter in cm. (*The Aardvark Permeameter standard Borehole diameter is* 10.16 cm, but you can enter another number for the diameter.)

Then enter the water temperature in the borehole. (*This information is only used in the "Earth Manual" method and has no effect on the calculations of other methods.*) Because the viscosity of water affects its infiltration rate in soil, the software corrects the K_{sat} for water viscosity in different temperatures. If you do not know what the water temperature is, you may enter "20" in the "Water Temperature" box. Viscosity of pure water in 20° C is equal to one and therefore will not affect the K_{sat} value. (If you are using "Imperial" units, then enter "70").

Next, enter the Borehole depth in cm in the "Hole Depth" text box. Enter the constant water head height in cm in the "Water Height" text box.

Enter the depth of the soil water table or impervious layer in cm in the "Water Table Depth" text box. (*This information is only used in the "Earth Manual" method and has no effect on the calculations of other methods.*)

Enter the soil's Texture-Structure Category. (*This information is only used in the "Reynolds and Elrick" method and has no effect on the calculations of other methods.*)

You have the option to add any notes for each site in the "Notes" text box.

Finally, click "Save Location" to save your data. The "Add a New Location" window will close and return you to the Permeameter screen.

NOTE: After entering new location data, at least two locations will be stored: the Sample Location that comes pre-installed with the Aardvark program and any location(s) that may have been entered. After saving and closing the "Add Location" screen, the "Sample Location" will be the default location displayed. To view the new locations just entered, go to the Location drop-down menu and select the desired location. In the screen below, we have just entered the Location "Valley View" and now want to view it in the main Aardvark Screen.

Valley View	-
<select a="" location=""></select>	
SampleLocation	
test 2	
test	
test3	
Valley View	

Next, enter the appropriate interval time between readings in the specified box. For most soils an interval between 5 and 10 minutes is sufficient. **NOTE:** The interval entered must be an integer number of MINUTES; 1 minute is the minimum.

In general, shorter intervals and shorter numbers of readings always yield more accurate and reliable results. However, small intervals can create more "noise" in the data, making it harder to get a Steady Flow Rate. To compensate, you can change the interval to a larger interval <u>after</u> the data has been gathered (you cannot change to a smaller interval after data collection).

A good example is if there are data points every 2 minutes and there is too much noise, you can set the interval to 4 minutes and every other reading will be hidden; data will appear as if it had originally been gathered at a 4-minute interval. To see all data points again, reset the interval back to 2 minutes and all data will reappear.

If you are not sure which interval would be best, use a smaller interval and you can expand the data later to smooth out the graph and achieve a better steady flow rate.

Next, you will need to instruct the program how to determine the "Steady Flow Rate". In the Main Aardvark Screen, enter "5" in the first box and "3" in the second box in the Steady Flow Rate Condition area (see green circled area below). This will tell the program to average the first 3 consecutive readings that have less than a 5 cm³ difference in "Water Consumption Rate" to determine the "Steady Flow Rate". You can change these parameters based on the reading's level of accuracy and soil type (For more information, see the section "*Determining the Steady Flow Rate* (*Q*)" in the Aardvark Permeameter Operating Instructions).

Steady Flow Rate Condition	
Steady Row Rate achieved when Water Consumption Rate changes less than +/- 5 ml her 3 consecutive readings	Steady Flow Rate: Percolation Rate: Ksat: (undefined) Inches / sec
Site Details:	

Edit an Existing Location

To edit a Location, first select the Location and Site to be edited so the data is showing in the screen. Then click on the Edition Location button.



The Edit Location window will open and alert you that readings have been saved for this site. Make the desired changes and then click Save Location.

Site #1 Site #2									
	Site Na	ame: Sit	e 1	Readings ha	ve been sav	ved for this :	site	Delete	this Site
				-	Lat/Lor	ig Format			
- YU					O D	ecimal degr	ees		
					O	egrees, Min	, Sec		
	10.2	cm	Hole Diameter		Degrees	Minutes	Seconds		
				Longitude:	0	0	0	East	•
									_
	20	°C	Water Temperature (only affects Earth Manual	Latitude: al method)	0	0	0	North	•
		°C	(only affects Earth Manua		0	0	0	North	•
	20 61	° C cm		al method)	on with sam	ple readings			Clear
			(only affects Earth Manua	I method) Site Details: This is a sample locatio	on with sam on with the	ple readings Add Locatio	s. on button an		Clear
	61	cm cm	(only affects Earth Manua Hole Depth Water Height in Hole	il method) Site Details: This is a sample locatic Create your own locati	on with sam on with the	ple readings Add Locatio	s. on button an		• Clear
	61	cm	(only affects Earth Manua Hole Depth	Il method) Site Details: This is a sample locati Create your own locati Readings button to be	on with sam on with the	ple readings Add Locatio	s. on button an		Clear
Soil Texture-Structure Cate	61 15.2 9999	cm cm	(only affects Earth Manua Hole Depth Water Height in Hole Water Table Depth (only affects Earth Manua)	Il method) Site Details: This is a sample locati Create your own locati Readings button to be	on with sam on with the	ple readings Add Locatio	s. on button an		Clear
Soil Texture-Structure Cate	61 15.2 9999 egory (only aff	cm cm cm	(only affects Earth Manua Hole Depth Water Height in Hole Water Table Depth (only affects Earth Manua)	al method) Site Details: This is a sample locati Create your own locati Readings button to be al method) tthod)	on with sam on with the gin entering	ple readings Add Locatio your own re	s. on button an		Clear
Compacted, structure-le	61 15.2 9999 egory (only aff	cm cm cm fects the material	(only affects Earth Manua Hole Depth Water Height in Hole Water Table Depth (only affects Earth Manua e Reynolds and Elrick me s such as landfill caps and lin	al method) Site Details: This is a sample locati Create your own locati Readings button to be al method) tethod) her, lacustrine or marine se	on with sam on with the gin entering	ple readings Add Locatio your own re	s. on button an		Clear
 Compacted, structure-le Soils which are both fine 	61 15.2 9999 egory (only aff sss, clayey or sity te textured (clayey	cm cm cm fects the material v or sity)	(only affects Earth Manua Hole Depth Water Height in Hole Water Table Depth (only affects Earth Manua a Reynolds and Elrick me	I method) Site Details: This is a sample locatit Create your own locati Readings button to be al method) thod) her, lacustrine or marine se nclude some fine sands.	on with sam on with the gin entering diments, etc	ple readings Add Locatic your own re	s. on button an eadings.	d click the	

Manually Entering Data

Now that location, site, and other required parameters have been entered, readings can now be entered manually.

Enter the Time and Reservoir water level for each reading in the corresponding columns in the "Data" panel. Note that the values in the Reservoir Water Level can be either positive or negative numbers.

Time /	Reservoir Water Level	Elapsed Time Interval	Interval Water Consumed	Total Water Consumed	Water Consumption Rate	Ignore this Reading
2:12:00 PM	8000 ml					

As you manually enter data, all the other columns will be calculated automatically and the data will be plotted in the Graph Panel. Once the "Steady Flow Rate Condition" is "true", the K_{sat} (Coefficient K) is calculated and shown in the corresponding box (see red box below).



The software is capable of calculating K in three different methods (Earth Manual¹, Glover Solution² and Reynolds & Elrick³). Note that there is no direct way to calculate K from Q, and different calculation methods will lead to different results. It is the responsibility of the user to select the proper method of calculation for his/her application. One can easily change the K_{sat} unit using the drop-down lists below it (image above). Two graphs from related parameters are generated automatically: "Water Consumption Rate" and "Total Water Consumed". Both can be viewed in the "Graph" panel, by clicking on the tab about the Graph Panel.

How to Make Automatic Readings

If you will be using the SimplyDATA Digital Scale (7201W10) to automate taking Aardvark readings, you will need to follow the steps as outlined in the previous section to set up your parameters.

Follow these additional steps to take automatic readings:

- Verify the correct location and site have been selected before starting the measurement process.
- Check that the desired reading interval time has been entered.
- The scale is powered on and you have followed the instructions in the "*Digital Scale Operating Instructions*" for proper setup. If the Scale is off or not connected, the **box** will display grey dashes instead of numbers (see red box below indicating no scale is connected).

	Site GPS Pos	sition			
di la		Degree	es Minutes	Seconds	
	Longitude:	0	0	0	East
	Latitude:	0	0	0	North
I Kator	10 cm		Hole Dia	meter	
	20 º C		Water Te	emperatu	re
	90 cm		Hole Dep	oth	
	10 cm		Water He	eight in H	ole
	999 cn	n	Water Ta	able Dept	h
Soil Texture-Structure Cate	egory:				
Most structured soils from unstructured medium and applicable for agricultural	fine sands				
1329.6 Begin Weighin	g		Clear Re	adings	ave Readings

To start the automated reading, click on the "Begin Weighing" button (see red arrow above). In the lower-left corner of the "Display" panel, you can observe the real-time reading of the Scale.

The first reading appears at once in the first row of the data table and the "Begin Weighing" button will change to "Stop Weighing".

If you click on the "Stop Weighing" button before you want to stop the measurement process, you will not be able to resume taking measurements. You will need to delete all the data in "Display" panel before starting the automated reading process again. (You will, however, be able to save the data before deleting). There is a countdown timer (see red box below) beside the "Begin/Stop Weighing" button. It always shows the time remaining to the next automated reading. Time will show in hours, minutes, seconds as applicable.

Soil Texture-	Structure Catego	ory:	
unstructured		e sands. The c	ms; also includes ategory most frequently
812.6	Stop Weighing	Next Reading: 45	Clear Readings Save Readings

False readings will occur when refilling the Reservoir or changing out an empty container for a full one. False readings can also occur when the Table setup is shaking due to wind or any other reason. You can tell the program to ignore these readings by checking the "Ignore this Reading" box next to each false reading as shown in the image below.

Time /	Reservoir Water Level	Elapsed Time Interval	Interval Water Consumed	Total Water Consumed	Water Consumption Rate	Ignore this Reading
8:00:00 AM	-738 ml					
8:05:00 AM	-1238 ml	5 minutes				V
8:10:00 AM	-1567 ml	5 minutes				

Once the "Steady Flow Rate Condition" is "true" K_{sat} , the Saturated Hydraulic Conductivity is calculated and shown in the corresponding box (see red box below). One can easily change the K_{sat} unit using the drop-down list (See green circle in image below).

Steady Flow Rate:	7.67 ml/min
Percolation Rate	10.24 min/cm
Ksat	4.475E-8
Mete	rs 🔻 / sec 🔻
	rs 🔹 / sec 🔹

A graph of the collected data will be generated automatically in the "Graph" Panel (see sample below).



When Steady State is reached the readings that represent "steady state" will be highlighted in the table and the readings representing the Steady Flow Rate will change to light blue points on the graph (see red boxes in image above). However many intervals specified in the Parameter Panel's Steady Flow Rate Condition area, there will be an equal amount of blue lines/points. It is important for the user to look at the graph and/or data to make sure that this is an appropriate place for the Steady Flow Rate to be. It is possible to get a false Steady Flow Rate at the beginning of the test at the steep part of the curve. If that happens, the user can force the program to look for a Steady Flow Rate at a later point by ignoring those points.

How to Set Up the Flash Drive for Use with Record It in a Flash (RIF)

Start the Aardvark Permeameter Program as outlined above.

The RIF.INI File that will be stored on the Flash Drive must be set up <u>first</u>. To do this, click on RIF in the Menu Bar, and select Setup RIF.INI File.

File	RIF	Options	View	Windows	Help		
		Load Read	ings Fron	n Flash Drive			
		Setup RIF .	INI File				
	1		Aard	vark cru	eamete	rs	
5		-			~	\sim	2
5		-	~	1-	~		3
4		Ŭ		~			1
5	Add	Location	Edit La	ocation	\sim		J
ocation			Edit Lo	ocation	\sim	Date of Rea	_
ocation Name:		Location View	Edit Lo	ocation	~		adings:

Once you select "Setup RIF.INI File" the "Measurement Setup" window will open.

In the "Measurement Setup" window, enter the name of the XML file that will be automatically created by the "Record It in a Flash" unit (6 characters maximum). If you haven't already created a location, you can add a Location with one or more Sites by clicking on the "New Location" button.

Measurement Setup	×
Name of the XML file that will be created on your flash drive to hold readings (6 characters max). A 2 digit number will be appended to the name, incrementing for each new test	Aardvark Permeameters
Location where readings will be taken: Select a Location>	Time interval between readings: 1 minutes
Site # Site Name Include	Steady state flow rate achieved when rate changes less than 0 ml for 0 consecutive readings action action of the steady state is reached
	Notes:
Load Existing Settings from Flash Drive	Save Settings to Flash Drive Close

Select the desired Location from the specified dropdown menu. Once you have selected a location, all sites defined for that location will be listed. Use the "Include" check box to include the sites that you need for measurement. These are the sites where you will be taking measurements.

Name of the	ment Setup he XML file that will be cr adings (6 characters max) to the name, incrementin	eated on your flash drive . A 2 digit number will be g for each new test run	Aardvark Permeameters
Leeation w	h oro roadinge will bo take	New Location	
Valley View	W	Edit Location	Time interval between readings: 0 minutes
Site # 1	Site Name Test Site 1		Steady state flow rate achieved when rate changes less than
2	Site 2		ml for 0 consecutive readings Auto-stop readings when steady state is reached
		N	otes:
Load Exist	ing Settings from Flash D	ive	Save Settings to Flash Drive Close

Next, enter the desired sampling interval in the specified box. We have entered 10 minutes here as an example.

ocation w	here readings will be taken:	New Location		Aardvark Permeameters
Valley Vie	w •	Edit Location		Time interval between readings: 10 minutes
Site # 1 2	Site Name Test Site 1 Site 2	Include	Notes:	Steady state flow rate achieved when rate changes less than 0 ml for 0 consecutive readings Image: Auto-stop readings when steady state is reached

Then, you will need to set the Steady Flow Rate Condition using the designated boxes. We have entered "5" for ml and "3" for consecutive readings. Please refer to the section "*How to Make Automatic Readings*", page 12, for more details.

to hold rea appended	he XML file that will be crea adings (6 characters max). I to the name, incrementing here readings will be taken:	A 2 digit number wi for each new test r	be
Valley Vie	-	Edit Location	Time interval between readings: 10 minutes
Site #	Site Name Test Site 1	Include	Steady state flow rate achieved when rate changes less than
2	Site 2		5 ml for 3 consecutive readings
			Notes:
	ting Settings from Flash Driv		Save Settings to Flash Drive Close

You can also check "Auto-stop readings..." (See red box below) to stop readings when a steady flow rate is established (not recommended).

NOTE: The steady flow rate information is optional if the auto-stop is <u>not</u> checked. If auto-stop *is* checked, then it is required. This information will be loaded to the main Aardvark screen when the data is loaded from the flash drive. The user can change the steady flow rate at any time, and you may prefer to set it AFTER looking at the data and see what makes sense.

Name of t	ement Setup he XML file that will be create adings (6 characters max). A I to the name, incrementing fo	2 digit number will b	De la
Location w	here readings will be taken:	New Location	
Valley Vie	and the second sec	Edit Location	Time interval between readings: 10 minutes
Site # 1 2	Site Name Test Site 1 Site 2	Include V	Steady state flow rate achieved when rate changes less than 5 ml for 3 consecutive readings V [Auto-stop readings when steady state is reached] Notes:
Load Exist	ting Settings from Flash Drive		Save Settings to Flash Drive Close

You can add notes in the "Notes" section if needed. This note is different from Site note. It is actually related to the Flash Drive and gives you the opportunity to add comments to the RIF.INI file.

NOTE: If you have already gone through the setup previously, and you simply want to set a different location, but don't want to reenter the interval and stead flow rate or notes, you can simply click the "Load Existing Settings from Flash Drive", change the location, and then save it back to the Flash Drive. This will replace the notes, reading interval, and steady state fields with the information that is stored on Flash Drive.

to hold rea appended	he XML file that will be creat adings (6 characters max). A I to the name, incrementing for here readings will be taken:	2 digit number will b	e
Valley Vie		Edit Location	Time interval between readings: 10 minutes
Site #	Site Name Test Site 1		
2	Site 2		Steady state flow rate achieved when rate changes less than 5 ml for 3 consecutive readings V Auto-stop readings when steady state is reached
			Notes:
Land Evid	ing Settings from Flash Drive		Save Settings to Flash Drive Close

To save your new settings, click the "Save Settings to Flash Drive" button. Your Flash Drive is now ready to use with the RIF.

If you have already previously loaded data onto the Flash Drive, you may get the following warning. Click "OK" if you wish to overwrite the existing file; click Cancel if you do not. If you click OK, the window will close and your flash drive is ready to be used with the RIF.



How to Import Data from the Flash Drive to the Aardvark Program

File	RIF	Options	View	Windows	Help		
	-	Load Readi	ings Fror	n Flash Drive			
	-	Setup RIF .I	INI File				
1		-	Aard	vark Perm	eamet	ers	
e.			-		_	\sim	
			~	1-	J.		
						S	
	-		12.				
	Add	Location	Edit Lo	ocation		Date of Read	linas
1			Edit Lo	ocation		Date of Read	-
ation ame:		Location	Edit Lo	ocation		Date of Read Aug 16, 2011	lings
1		leLocation	Edit Lo	vertion		and the transmission of the	-
ame:	Samp Site 1	leLocation		een reading	s: 2	and the transmission of the	-

In the "RIF" menu, click on "Load Readings from Flash Drive".

You will then need to navigate to the RIF Flash Drive and select the .xml file you want to load.

Organize	New folder				≡ ▼ 🗍 🕼
▲ ★ Favorites	A Name	Date modified	Туре	Size	3 • 🛄 💘
E Desktop	Excel	8/11/2011 4:44 PM	File folder		
🚺 Downloads	ABCDEF01.xml	6/2/2011 1:36 PM	XML Document	4 KB	
💹 Recent Places	ListStartup.txt	8/11/2011 4:42 PM	Text Document	1 KB	
My Documents	PermStartup.txt	8/15/2011 4:53 PM	Text Document	1 KB	
	sau	6/30/2011 3:54 PM	File	1 KB	
a 词 Libraries	sdws	6/30/2011 3:55 PM	File	1 KB	

The saved Aardvark Permeameter measurement files have the 6-character name that you entered previously with a two-digit sequence number appended to it, and an .xml extension. The RIF unit appends "01" to end of the file name. This makes the total file name length 8 characters. For the second set of readings, RIF will append "02" to the end of file name and so forth. This way you can distinguish different readings from one site to another. For more details, please refer to the "Record It in a Flash" Operating Instructions.

Double click on the file to open it.

NOTE: Once the data is loaded, you are free to work with it just as you would manuallyentered data. You can choose to ignore bad data points, change the steady flow rate condition, or even expand the interval to a larger number, reducing the number of data points displayed.

How to Export Data to Excel

All data files are stored on the Soilmoisture Flash Drive (SFD) and the program will not allow you to save them to any other location. However, the SimplyDATA Software Suite makes it possible to export the data from your measurements to Microsoft Excel[®]. To do this, you <u>must</u> have Excel[®] already installed on your computer. To export your data, follow these simple steps:

Select the Location and Site you want to export using the Location and Site drop-downs on the Parameter panel. Once your readings are <u>showing in the Data and Graph panels</u>, from the "File" menu, select "Export to Excel".



After few seconds, an Excel® file containing your data will appear on the screen.



Modify the Excel[®] file and then save it with a descriptive name. This name can be a combination of Location name, Site name and the date of sampling. We highly recommend that you always add notes to your Excel[®] file identifying where and when the data was taken.

NOTE: while SimplyDATA will only save user data files to the SFD, as mentioned in the previous page, the user can also go into Windows[®] Explorer and copy those files to another hard drives, etc. for archival purposes. On the SFD, there is a folder called Data. Within that folder data is stored in .XML files. We highly recommend that the user back up this file to another drive in case the SFD is damaged and becomes unreadable or lost.

Helpful Hints During Normal Use

The SimplyDATA Software Suite is supplied to you on an SFD. The Flash Drive also serves as a Hardware Key. Therefore it is necessary to have the SFD connected to your PC <u>every time</u> you run the software. It is possible to install the software to many computers suing the same SFD.

Deleting Readings Only

The SFD can hold about 50 million readings, however if you have saved or store non-SimplyDATA data on the drive and want to save space you can clear all readings from the SFD. To do this, go to the main Aardvark screen, and select the location/site to pull up the existing readings to be cleared. Next, locate and click on the "Clear Readings" button. Then Click "Save Readings".

All readings for that site are now gone, but the site will still exist.

Deleting Readings and Sites

There is no direct way to delete a Location-Site data file from the SFD, but it is possible to clear all of its readings and all but one Site for each Location.

NOTE: Each location must always have one site, and so the last site cannot be deleted, but the readings for that site can be erased.

Click on the "Edit Locations" button, the Edit Location form will open so that sites can be added, modified, or deleted. Each location must have 1 site, but no more than 8. If readings have been stored for a particular location, you will see the message "Readings have been saved for this site" in RED just to the left of the "Delete this Site" button.



To delete the readings *and* site, press the "Delete this Site" button. A window will pop up asking if you wish to continue and delete the site and all its readings.



If you press "Yes", then the site and all readings will be permanently erased.

Unrealistic Readings Due to Maintenance Activities

During the sampling period, The Aardvark software continuously reads data from the Scale based on the designated reading interval. Therefore, some activities, for example refilling the Reservoir, will create some false readings and they should, therefore, be ignored. Distinguishing these readings from true readings is an easy task. They are very different from their adjacent readings and have extraordinary values and ignoring them would give the graphs a much smoother and reasonable trend and most importantly, they have been generated during refilling of the Reservoir, checking the system or some similar activity.



Unrealistic Readings Due to Lack of Constant Water Head Establishment

In some cases, the "Steady Flow Rate Condition" (see "*How to Make Automatic Readings*", page 12) may become "true" before establishing an actual constant water head. The "Steady Flow Rate Condition" acts like a switch and if it becomes "true", it instructs the software to calculate the Steady Flow Rate and Coefficient K and enter the data in the corresponding box. In such a case, the calculated K value is <u>not</u> realistic. A common example is when the Aardvark Permeameter is installed in a wide Borehole, or in a soil with extreme hydraulic conductivity, or when the intended water head height is relatively high. In these circumstances, it may take several readings before the constant water head is established. During this period of time, the Aardvark Permeameter will have its maximum flow rate which is also steady. Therefore a steady flow rate and a K value may be calculated which are not realistic. Please keep in mind that a steady flow rate close to the Aardvark Permeameter maximum water supply rate is probably an indication that a constant water head has <u>not</u> been established yet. This can be verified in shallow measurements by looking down the Borehole and checking to see if the constant water head has been established (the water level has met the Constant Head Water Mark on the unit).

A more accurate way is to continue the readings to see if the Water Consumption Rate slows over time by looking at the real time Water Consumption Rate graph. In the case that the Water Consumption Rate reduces over time, continue the readings until the Water Consumption Rate has stabilized and then use those readings to calculate the Steady Flow Rate by checking the ignore checkbox on the earlier readings.

If the Water Consumption Rate continues to stay close to the Aardvark Permeameter's maximum water supply rate (see the section "Determining the Aardvark Permeameter's Maximum Water Supply Rate"), there is a possibility that the constant water head is not achievable in that soil due to the soil's excessive hydraulic conductivity. This problem can be addressed to some extent by increasing the Aardvark Permeameter's water supply rate. Moving the Reservoir to a higher elevation will increase the Aardvark Permeameter's water supply rate.

NOTE: Never try to pump air into the reservoir to increase the water supply rate.

Determining the Aardvark Permeameter's Maximum Water Supply Rate

When taking shallow measurements in soils with extremely high hydraulic conductivity, there is a chance that a constant water head cannot be achieved. In that case, knowing the Aardvark Permeameter's maximum water supply rate can help detect this problem (see section *"Unrealistic Readings Due to Lack of Constant Water Head Establishment"*, page 21 for more details).

In shallow measurements, the Aardvark Permeameter's maximum water supply rate will vary according to its overhead pressure (the vertical distance between water surface in the Reservoir and the Aardvark Permeameter Module). The Aardvark Permeameter's minimum water supply rate is about 1200 ml/min. This is when the overhead pressure is about 60 cm (2 ft.) of water column. Also its maximum water supply rate is about 1500 ml/min. This is when the Aardvark Permeameter Module is used with the Regulator Unit in Deep Measurements or when in shallow measurements the overhead pressure is maximum (about 3.44 m [11.3 ft.] of water

column).You can also determine the Aardvark Permeameter's maximum water supply rate following these steps:

The following test is used when you have a laptop connected to a Digital Scale in the field. If you are using the RIF box/flash drive method, you will need to go to the setup RIF.INI, select the proper location and Max Flow Rate Test site, and set the 1 minute interval, and save those settings to the flash drive. Then load the flash drive back to the computer after the test to see the results.

1. Set up the system so that the vertical distance between the Reservoir and the Aardvark Permeameter is equal to what it should be in the actual setup. For example, if you want to install the Aardvark Permeameter at a depth of 1 m and the Reservoir height from the soil surface is 1m (illustration below, left) set up the system so that the vertical distance between the Aardvark Permeameter and the Reservoir is 2m (illustration below, right).



- 2. Prepare and install everything to start measuring: Assemble and connect all the components (Table, Scale, Aardvark Permeameter, Tubing, and Software).
- 3. Start the Aardvark Permeameter program in the SimplyDATA Software Suite.
- 4. Enter today's date (the current date is the default date).
- 5. If you haven't already created a location as described in the instructions above, create a site within that location named "Maximum Flow Rate Test".
- 6. Enter "1 minute" in the "Time interval between readings" box. This will tell the program to read the Scale every minute. NOTE: 1 minute is the minimum interval available.
- 7. Click "Begin Weighing" and open the Reservoir Valve (you will have 1 minute to do this).
- 8. Allow the software make four or five readings.
- 9. Close the Valve.
- 10. Click the "Stop Weighing" button.
- 11. Ignore the first reading and calculate the average of "Water Consumption Rate" of the other readings. This will give you a good estimate of the maximum flow rate of the system in the specified depth.